IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-1180

THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL SERVICES, as

ON REVIEW FROM A Receiver for Aries Insurance Company, CERTIFIED QUESTION OF

Petitioner,

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN CASE

NO. 1D04-3906.

v.

OCEAN BANK,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MANDEL & CALE LLP By: E. BARCLAY CALE Counsel for Petitioner 1200 Alfred I. duPont Building 169 East Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: 305.374.7771

Facsimile: 305.374.7776

DIVISION OF REHABILITATION & LIQUIDATION By: LAUDELINA F. McDONALD Co-Counsel for Petitioner P.O. Box 0817 Miami, Florida 33152-0817 Telephone: 786-336-1350 Facsimile: 305-499-2273

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the Florida Department of Financial Services, as Receiver for Aries Insurance Company, is the Defendant, and the Respondent, Ocean Bank, is the Plaintiff, in a declaratory judgment proceeding filed as an adversary proceeding in the Aries Receivership Proceeding pending in the Circuit Court for Leon County, Case No. 02-CA-1128-E. Ocean Bank sought a declaration that the issue of the validity of its mortgage on property owned by the insolvent insurer should be litigated in Miami-Dade County. In its counterclaims, the Receiver sought, in part, a declaration that the mortgage is void. Ocean Bank moved to dismiss this counterclaim. The Receivership Court denied the motion to dismiss on July 16, 2004.

Ocean Bank sought a second time to prevent litigation of the Receiver's counterclaim by seeking a writ of prohibition. The District Court of Appeal for the First District granted the writ on March 31, 2005, but certified a question of great public importance. Judge Benton filed a dissenting opinion in which he explained the substantive and procedural problems with granting a writ of prohibition.

The Receiver sought reconsideration of the District Court's ruling and requested that the court clarify the certified question. Reconsideration and

clarification were denied on June 6, 2005. The Receiver filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction on June 30, 2005.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

In 1998, the management of Aries Insurance Company ("Aries") engineered a transaction that transferred valuable real estate that belonged to Aries and its sister corporation, American Skyhawk Insurance Company ("American Skyhawk"), to their corporate parent, Onyx Insurance Group, Inc. ("Onyx Group"). Aries did not receive fair and full consideration for the transfer of this valuable real estate as required by applicable statutes, and the Receiver, as a result of an extensive investigation, concluded that the transfer constituted an illegal distribution which is recoverable by the Receiver under the Florida Insurers Rehabilitation and Liquidation Act ("Rehabilitation and Liquidation Act"), Section 631.399, Florida Statutes. The Receiver further concluded that the transfer of real estate did not comply with the requirements of the Florida Insurance Holding Company Act.

As part of this transaction wherein the valuable real estate was transferred from Aries and American Skyhawk to Onyx Group, Ocean Bank assisted Aries' management by providing the cash necessary to effectuate the transaction by entering into a \$6.5 million mortgage loan transaction with Onyx Group. In subsequent years, Ocean Bank made further advances against the same real estate collateral under an advance clause in the mortgage.

By quit-claim deeds dated October 1, 2001, Onyx Group reconveyed the same real estate, under and subject to the Ocean Bank mortgage, back to Aries as a contribution of capital to enable Aries to meet its statutory capital requirements as of December 31, 2001. The deeds to the real estate were not recorded until April 10, 2002, a month before Aries was placed in rehabilitation by the Florida Department of Insurance. As a result of the quit-claim deeds, Aries became, and is today, the record title holder of the real estate subject to the Ocean Bank mortgage. (*See* Quit-claim Deeds, App. vol. 1, OB 0004-0008.)

On March 17, 2003, Ocean Bank filed an omnibus 24-count foreclosure complaint in the Circuit Court of Miami-Dade County (the "Foreclosure Action") seeking to foreclose on collateral, both real and personal, which it alleged secured approximately \$17 million in numerous loans made by Ocean Bank to various corporate entities and individuals associated with the Fraynd Family, who owned and controlled Aries as part of their Onyx Group of companies. (*See* Ocean Bank Foreclosure Action, App. vol. 1, OB 0018-0286.)

The Receiver has never been served with process in the Foreclosure Action and is not a party to that action. (*See* Ocean Bank Pet. for Writ of Prohibition at 8; *see also* Declaratory Judgment Complaint ¶ 22, App. vol. 2, OB-0313.) The Receiver also has not been correctly named as a party in the Ocean Bank

Foreclosure Action. The Florida Department of Insurance appears as a defendant as the Receiver of *Aries Insurance Group, Inc.*, not Aries Insurance Company. (*See* Ocean Bank Foreclosure Action ¶¶ 9 and 81, App. vol. 1, OB0018-0286.) Aries Insurance Group, Inc. and Aries Insurance Company are separate and distinct corporations.

Recognizing that Aries, as the titleholder to the real estate sought to be foreclosed, was more than just a "nominal" party, and that service of process on the Receiver could not be effected without the consent of the Receivership Court, Ocean Bank on June 24, 2003, filed an action for declaratory relief in the Receivership Court, which was assigned Subsidiary Matter E to designate it as a separate adversary proceeding in the overall receivership proceeding (the "Declaratory Judgment Action"). (*See* Notice of Commencement of Filing Adversary Proceeding, Supp. App., R 0004-0006.)

In the Bank's Complaint for Declaratory Judgment, and Alternatively, For Stay Relief or a Determination of the Validity and Priority of Ocean Bank's Secured Claims ("Declaratory Judgment Complaint"), Ocean Bank asked the Receivership Court to declare the respective rights of the Receiver and Ocean Bank as to various matters:

This is an action pursuant to F.S. Florida Statutes 86.011, and other applicable Florida law, to among other things, declare and determine: (1) that Miami-Dade County is the appropriate jurisdiction and venue to determine the validity, priority and extent of its interest in certain collateral securing loan obligations due and owing to Ocean Bank, (2) that the Receiver is obligated to accept process and respond to certain foreclosure proceedings in Miami-Dade County, Florida as authorized by F.S. 631.041(d), and (3) that Ocean Bank is not impaired by any stay or is entitled to stay relief, to the extent required, to proceed to foreclosure judgment and sale in accordance with F.S. 631.041(d), including enforcement of an assignment of rents for real property located in Miami-Dade County, Florida.

(Declaratory Judgment Complaint ¶ 1, App. vol. 2, OB-0306.)

Ocean Bank invoked the jurisdiction of the Circuit Court of Leon County pursuant to the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act:

28. Pursuant to F.S. 86.011, this Court has jurisdiction to declare the rights and status of Ocean Bank and the Receiver. Ocean Bank contends that it is entitled to an adjudication that Miami-Dade County is the appropriate jurisdiction and venue to determine the validity, priority and extent of its interest in certain collateral securing loan obligations due and owing to Ocean Bank. Pursuant to section 631.041(d), the automatic stay does not apply to '[a]ny act to create, perfect, or enforce a lien against property of the insurer, except that a secured claim as defined in s. 631.011(17) may proceed under s. 631.191 after the order of liquidation is entered.

(Declaratory Judgment Complaint ¶ 28, App. vol. 2, OB-0315.)

In paragraph 36 of the Declaratory Judgment Complaint, Ocean Bank alleged as follows:

36. The secured claims Ocean Bank seeks to enforce in the Dade Action are not void or voidable by the Receiver and the property, particularly the real property and related rents, do not constitute premium funds or any other asset belonging to the insurer.

(Declaratory Judgment Complaint ¶ 36, App. vol. 2, OB-0317.)

The Receiver filed an answer to the Declaratory Judgment Complaint. In response to paragraph 28 alleging the jurisdiction of the Receivership Court to adjudicate the Declaratory Judgment Complaint, the Receiver responded as follows:

28. Denied as stated. It is admitted that pursuant to Florida Statutes, Section 86.011, this Court has jurisdiction to declare the rights and status of Ocean Bank and the Receiver. It is denied that Ocean Bank is entitled to an adjudication that Miami-Dade County is the appropriate jurisdiction and venue to determine the validity, priority, and extent of its interest in certain collateral securing loan obligations due and owing to Ocean Bank. It is further denied that Ocean Bank is entitled to relief from the automatic stay on the grounds that it is proceeding on a secured claim as defined in Florida Statutes, Section 631.011 (17). To the contrary, the Receiver has alleged that Ocean Bank does not possess a valid and enforceable security interest either to the real estate that it seeks to foreclose nor the personalty that it seeks to foreclose upon in its Dade Action. Since the Dade Action seeks to proceed against property owned and possessed by the Receiver, this Court must first determine whether Ocean Bank is, in fact, the holder of a

valid and non-voidable security interest in either the real estate or the personalty before granting any relief from stay to Ocean Bank.

(Receiver's Answer with Counterclaims ¶ 28, App. vol. 3, OB 0701-0702.)

In response to Ocean Bank's allegations that its security interests were not void or voidable by the Receiver, as set forth in paragraph 36 of the Declaratory Judgment Complaint, the Receiver responded as follows:

36. Denied. It is denied that the secured claims Ocean Bank seeks to enforce in the Dade action are not void or voidable by the Receiver and the property, particularly the real property and related rents, do not constitute assets belonging to the insurer. To the contrary, Ocean Bank's secured interest in the real estate that it is attempting to foreclose is void and unenforceable for the reasons more fully set forth in the Counterclaims. With respect to its alleged security interest in personalty, the funds which Ocean Bank seeks to foreclose upon are, in fact, premium funds belonging to the Receiver as to which Ocean Bank does not have a valid, enforceable security interest.

(Receiver's Answer with Counterclaims ¶ 36, App. vol. 3, OB-0704.)

The Receiver asserted two counterclaims in its answer to the Declaratory Judgment Complaint. The Receiver's first counterclaim elaborated on its response to Ocean Bank's allegations in paragraph 36 of its Declaratory Judgment Complaint, i.e., that its mortgage on the Aries real estate was not "void or voidable"

by the Receiver," (App. vol. 2, OB-0317), and requested counter-relief, i.e., a declaration that the Ocean Bank mortgage is void.

Ocean Bank filed a motion to dismiss both of the Receiver's counterclaims. With respect to the Receiver's counterclaim to declare the Ocean Bank mortgage void, Ocean Bank argued that the local action rule barred the Receivership Court from considering and determining whether Ocean Bank's mortgage was void. After briefs and oral argument of counsel, the Receivership Court, by order dated July 16, 2004, denied Ocean Bank's motion to dismiss. (Order of July 16, 2004, App. vol. 1, OB 0001-0003.)

Rather than filing a response to the Receiver's counterclaims on the merits, Ocean Bank repudiated the allegations made in its Declaratory Judgment Complaint that the Receivership Court had jurisdiction to declare the respective rights of the Receiver and Ocean Bank as to the mortgage and instead filed the Petition for Writ of Prohibition with the District Court arguing that the Receivership Court did not have subject matter jurisdiction over the very matters that Ocean Bank had brought to the Receivership Court for decision.

In a per curiam opinion entered on March 31, 2005, the District Court granted the writ of prohibition. Judge Benton filed a dissenting opinion. The District Court certified the following question to be of great importance:

IS A CLAIM TO VOID A MORTGAGE A COMPULSORY COUNTERCLAIM IN A PENDING MORTGAGE FORECLOSURE ACTION SUCH THAT A RECEIVERSHIP COURT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO SEPARATELY CONSIDER A CLAIM TO VOID THE MORTGAGE IN A RECEIVERSHIP ACTION?

Opinion at 6. The Receiver filed its Motion for Rehearing En Banc, or in the Alternative, Motion for Rehearing and/or for Clarification which was denied by the District Court on June 6, 2005. The Receiver filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction on June 30, 2005.

ISSUE ON APPEAL

IS A CLAIM TO VOID A MORTGAGE A COMPULSORY COUNTERCLAIM IN A PENDING MORTGAGE FORECLOSURE ACTION SUCH THAT A RECEIVERSHIP COURT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO SEPARATELY CONSIDER A CLAIM TO VOID THE MORTGAGE IN A RECEIVERSHIP ACTION?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The issue before the Court is the subject matter jurisdiction of the Circuit Court of Leon County ("Receivership Court") under the Rehabilitation and Liquidation Act. Ocean Bank's Petition for Writ of Prohibition sought to prohibit the Receivership Court from adjudicating the Receiver's request that the court declare that Ocean Bank's mortgage on property owned by Aries Insurance Company (the insolvent insurer), and located in Miami-Dade County, is void based on the application of certain provisions of the Rehabilitation and Liquidation Act and the Insurance Company Holding Act.

On March 31, 2005, the District Court of Appeal granted the writ of prohibition and issued a per curiam opinion holding that the Receiver's request for declaratory relief had to be brought as a compulsory counterclaim in the Foreclosure Action in Miami-Dade County even though the Receiver had not been served with process. Judge Benton filed a dissenting opinion.

While the District Court concluded that the Receiver's claim for declaratory relief is a compulsory counterclaim to the Foreclosure Action, the underlying rationale of the opinion must be that the Receivership Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to hear the Receiver's claim because it affects a mortgage on real estate located in Miami-Dade County. A writ of prohibition would only be appropriate if

Page - 13 -

the Receivership Court exceeded its subject matter jurisdiction - the writ is not a

proper remedy to correct a procedural problem such as a counterclaim asserted in

the wrong lawsuit.

The Receiver submits that statutory law and well-established case law give

the Receivership Court subject matter jurisdiction to hear the Receiver's claim for

a declaration that the mortgage is void. The Receiver's claim has been properly

asserted as a counterclaim in the Declaratory Judgment Action filed in the

Receivership Court and served on the Receiver.

From a policy standpoint, the result of the District Court's decision will be

to vest jurisdiction in courts other than the Circuit Court of Leon County issues of

interpretation and application of the Rehabilitation and Liquidation Act. In the

instant case, these issues will be determined by the United States Bankruptcy Court

for the Southern District of Florida (where the Foreclosure Action is now pending).

Any appeals on these issues will be heard by the federal courts - not the Florida

courts. This result is inconsistent with clear legislative intent to have the Circuit

Court of Leon County exercise exclusive jurisdiction over these issues.

ARGUMENT

I. Section 631.021(6), Florida Statutes, Grants Exclusive Jurisdiction to the Circuit Court of Leon County with Respect to Property of Insolvent Insurers and All Claims Against Their Property.

Section 631.021(6), Florida Statutes, provides as follows:

The domiciliary court acquiring jurisdiction over persons subject to this chapter may exercise exclusive jurisdiction to the exclusion of all other courts, except as limited by the provisions of this chapter. Upon the issuance of an order of conservation, rehabilitation, or liquidation, the Circuit Court of Leon County shall have exclusive jurisdiction with respect to assets or property of any insurer subject to such proceedings and claims against said insurer's assets or property (emphasis supplied).

This subsection of Section 631.021 became effective on July 1, 2004, and was the controlling jurisdictional statute when Judge Ferris entered her order of July 16, 2004, denying Ocean Bank's motion to dismiss. As Judge Benton recognized in his dissent, Opinion at 7, the second sentence of this subsection vests exclusive jurisdiction in the Circuit Court of Leon County to adjudicate Ocean Bank's claim against the Aries real estate and the Receiver's Counterclaim. This legislative grant of exclusive jurisdiction to the Circuit Court of Leon County renders the local action rule inapplicable to Ocean Bank's allegations in the Declaratory

Judgment Action that its security interest is not void or voidable as well as the Receiver's counterclaim to declare Ocean Bank's mortgage on Aries property void.

Under the rules governing the applicability of new laws to pending cases, subsection (6) of Section 631.021 as a procedural statute applied retroactively as a basis for jurisdiction over this case. Under Florida law, "[t]he general rule is that a substantive statute will not operate retrospectively absent clear legislative intent to the contrary, but that a procedural or remedial statute is to operate retrospectively." *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Laforet*, 658 So. 2d 55, 61 (Fla. 1995); see also City of Lakeland v. Cantinella, 129 So. 2d 133, 136 (Fla. 1961) (stating that "remedial statutes or statutes relating to remedies or modes of procedure, which do not create new or take away vested rights, but only operate in furtherance of the remedy or confirmation of rights already existing, do not come within the legal conception of a retrospective law, or the general rule against retrospective operation of statutes.").

In applying this rule to legislation affecting jurisdiction, the Florida courts have uniformly held that statutes which transfer or assign exclusive jurisdiction from one tribunal to another are "procedural in nature" and "may be held immediately applicable to pending cases." *Florida Birth-Related Neuro. Inj. Comp. Assoc. v. Demarko*, 640 So. 2d 181, 182 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) (holding that

a statute transferring jurisdiction over claims brought under the Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Act from the judge of compensation claims to the Florida Division of Administration Hearings to be immediately applicable to pending cases); see also City of Lakeland, 129 So. 2d at 136 (holding that a statute which allowed the Florida Industrial Commission to assume jurisdiction over claims previously adjudicated by the courts was remedial or procedural in nature and should be applied retrospectively); Eastern Airlines v. Planet Reliance Ins. Co., 695 So. 2d 732, 733-34 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (same); Napp-Deady Assoc. v. Ramsey, 599 So. 2d 228, 229 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (same); cf. Gordon v. John Deere, 264 So. 2d 419, 420 (Fla. 1972) (holding that Florida's long arm statute, which created personal jurisdiction where none existed before, could not be applied retroactively because it in essence created a previously nonexisting remedy).

In this case, Section 631.021(6) does not act to "create new or take away vested rights" from Ocean Bank. *City of Lakeland*, 129 So. 2d at 136. On the contrary, it merely establishes that the Circuit Court of Leon County has exclusive jurisdiction over the property of the insolvent insurer and claims against the property. As such, the statutory provision is properly applied to immediately

confer exclusive jurisdiction upon the Receivership Court to adjudicate Ocean Bank's claim against property in the name of the insolvent insurer.

The First District Court of Appeal's opinion in *Chase Bank of Texas National Association v. State of Florida, Department of Insurance*, 860 So. 2d 472 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003), is also authority as to the applicability of legislative amendments to Chapter 631 to pending insolvency cases. In *Chase*, the receiver's fraud claim against the bank had been dismissed for lack of jurisdiction earlier in the litigation. While the proceeding was still pending, the Legislature amended Chapter 631 to authorize jurisdiction over the dismissed claim. The circuit court found that the amendments conferred jurisdiction over the newly asserted claim. *Chase*, 860 So. 2d at 475. The *Chase* panel affirmed the circuit court's finding, stating that "[i]t has been the case all along that the circuit court has jurisdiction to hear a claim on behalf of a receiver, but if there was ever any doubt about that point, it was removed by the 2002 amendments to the statute." 860 So. 2d at 477.

II. Section 631.021(1), Florida Statutes, Grants Original Jurisdiction to the Circuit Court of Leon County to Decide All Proceedings Involving Insolvent Insurers.

In addition to the grant of exclusive jurisdiction contained in subsection (6), subsection (1) of Section 631.021 vests the Circuit Court of Leon County with broad jurisdiction over all matters related to the insolvency proceedings of

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