IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-1180

THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL SERVICES, as Receiver for Aries Insurance Company,

Petitioner,

vs.

OCEAN BANK,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

COFFEY & WRIGHT, LLP By: Kendall Coffey *Co-Counsel for Respondent* Grand Bay Office Plaza, PH2B 2665 South Bayshore Drive Miami, Florida 33133 Telephone: 305.857.9797 Facsimile: 305.859.9919

AKERMAN SENTERFITT

By: J. Riley Davis *Co-counsel for Respondent* 106 East College Avenue, Suite 1200 P. O. Box 1877 Tallahassee, Florida 32302-1877 Telephone: 850.224.9634 Facsimile: 850.222.0103

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should decline to accept jurisdiction of this local dispute because this dispute does not involve a question of great public importance but instead involves a narrow principle of law, encompassing a unique set of facts, and impacting few. Moreover, the Receiver's argument that the Receivership Court is the only court which can litigate controversies relating to alleged receivership assets rings particularly hollow where the Receiver is presently choosing to bring lawsuits involving alleged assets in various venues outside the Receivership Court.

On the merits, the District Court of Appeal correctly applied the local action rule to require that the entire foreclosure controversy be litigated in the county where the land is situated, Miami-Dade County. It is indisputable that the local action rule applies to foreclosure actions. This well-settled common law rule has been properly applied to the insurance receivership where Sections 631.041(d) and 631.191(2)(a), specifically authorize a secured lender to proceed against assets of a failed insurance company after the order of liquidation is entered here. The Receiver's proposition that, pursuant to Section 631.021(6), exclusive jurisdiction of the Counterclaim resides in Leon County Circuit Court is wrong for a multitude of reasons. The exclusive jurisdiction language of Section 631.021(6) refers to parallel out-of-state proceedings, not intrastate proceedings involving Florida real estate such as those at issue here. Furthermore, that Section 631.021(6) refers to inter-state controversies is evidenced by the structure of Section 631.021 as a whole, the placement of the exclusive jurisdiction language after the sentence regarding domiciliary court in Section 631.021(6), the purpose of the Uniform Insurers Liquidation Act, and the severe disruption a contrary interpretation would inflict on numerous other Florida Statutes. Moreover, an interpretation that Section 631.021(6) refers to intrastate proceedings renders meaningless various Florida Statutes and nullifies Sections 631.041(d) and 631.191(2)(a), which authorize a lender to proceed against assets of a failed insurance company.

The Receiver's interpretation also renders Section 631.021(6) unconstitutional because it would violate Article V Section 5(b) of the Florida Constitution. In any event, Section 631.021(6) cannot be applied retroactively to Ocean Bank because such application will attach new legal consequences by thwarting Ocean Bank's ability to proceed with the foreclosure proceeding.

Courts around the country have uniformly held that the local action rule applies to a fraudulent transfer action, which, in substance, is the cause of action sued upon in the Counterclaim. Even if the Counterclaim, standing alone, were not subject of the local action rule, because the Counterclaim seeks the same relief as the foreclosure - title to the Miami-Dade Properties - both claims are inextricably and logically related. Further, the Receiver's "first-served" argument - that service was effected in the action subject of the Counterclaim and not the foreclosure action - is disingenuous and incorrect. Because the local action rule is jurisdictional, the "first-served" rule is inapplicable.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. This Court Should Decline to Accept Jurisdiction of This Local Dispute

Pursuant to Rule 9.030(2)(a)(v) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, this Court has the discretionary jurisdiction to review decisions of the District Courts of Appeal that pass upon a question certified to be of great public importance. While, as a threshold matter, the district court passed upon the question certified to be of great public importance, the issue here is whether or not the question certified is, in fact, of *great public* importance.

Certification of a question as one of great public importance does not automatically vest jurisdiction in this Court or require this Court to decide the case. Rule 9.030 (2)(a)(v) and Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution provide that the discretionary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court **may** be sought to review such decisions. In this case, even though the First District Court of Appeal did pass upon the question certified to be one of great public importance, this Court should exercise its discretion **not** to decide the case because the actual legal question deals with a narrow principle of law, encompasses a unique set of facts, and impacts a very limited group.

This Court frequently refuses to accept jurisdiction to address certified questions involving limited issues addressing unique facts. *See e.g. State v. Brooks*, 788 So.2d 247 (Fla. 2001) (declining to consider whether a reasonable mistake as to the age of the victim may be considered in mitigation in sentencing an individual for sexual battery); *Dade County Property Appraiser v. Lisboa*, 737 So.2d 1078 (Fla. 1999) (declining to consider whether an alien residing in the United States pending application for political asylum can satisfy the constitutional and statutory residency requirements to qualify for Florida's homestead tax exemption); *State v. Sowell*, 734 So.2d 421 (Fla. 1999) (declining to address whether statutory amendments abrogated the common law defense of medical necessity as applied to a seriously ill individual who cultivates marijuana solely for personal use to obtain medical relief).

The certified question presented in this case will only affect insurers who have been placed in rehabilitation and liquidation in a delinquency proceeding under Chapter 631, Florida Statutes, and a banking institution who loaned money to the parent company of the insurer and received as collateral from the parent company real property titled in the name of the parent company at the time of the loan. While choosing to litigate other cases in South Florida, in this instance, the Receiver challenged the validity of the mortgage received by Ocean Bank before the Receivership Court in Leon County, rather than in the appropriate foreclosure action filed in Miami-Dade County, Florida, where the real property is located, where all of the parties are located, and where attorneys and witnesses are located.

Great public importance is not found in this very narrow issue. It simply involves a limited and rare issue between the Receiver and a secured creditor involving real property in Miami-Dade County, Florida that was used as collateral in a loan between Ocean Bank and the parent company (Onyx) of the insurer (Aries). Even more unusual is the fact that the title to the real property in question was transferred back to Aries by the parent company (Onyx) in April, 2002, after Aries had been placed under confidential administrative supervision by the Division of Rehabilitation and Liquidation. (Supp. App. C)

Accordingly, the determination by this Court as to whether a claim to void a mortgage is a compulsory counterclaim in a pending mortgage foreclosure action such that the Receivership Court does not have jurisdiction to separately consider the claim to void the mortgage in a receivership action, is very unique, specific and limited in application and should not be considered by this Court to be of great public importance that would justify this Court exercising its discretionary jurisdiction and accepting this case for review.

B. The District Court of Appeal Correctly Applied the Local Action Rule to Require That the Foreclosure Controversy Be Litigated in the County Where the Land is Situated

This Court has repeatedly affirmed the local action rule as a firmly entrenched doctrine anchored in principles of subject matter jurisdiction. Goedmakers, 520 So.2d at 578 (Fla. 1988) ("[C]ourts have no jurisdiction in actions relating to real property located outside their territorial boundaries"), *citing* Georgia, 147 So. 267 (1933). See also Ruth v. Department of Legal Affairs, 684 So.2d 181, 186 (Fla. 1996) ("...[A] court that does not have territorial and consequently *in rem* jurisdiction must transfer the case to a court that does.") In applying local action analysis, the *Goedmakers*' decision framed the issue in terms of the substance of the litigation. "Whether or not the action is local or transitory depends on the underlying major question in the case." Goedmakers, 520 So.2d at 579 (emphasis added), *citing Lakeland Ideal Farm & Drainage Dist. v. Mitchell*, 97 Fla. 890, 122 So. 516 (1929). Thus, because the underlying major questions in foreclosure actions center upon determining the ultimate ownership of the property, these cases have invariably respected the dictates of the local action rule. Georgia Casualty, 147 So. at 292, (Foreclosure "must be brought in the county" where the land lies.") In Alexdex Corp. v. Nachon Enterprises, Inc., 641 So.2d 858 (Fla. 1994), in a related context, this Court further observed:

An action to foreclose a mechanic's lien, like an action to foreclose a mortgage on land, is an action seeking to judicially convert a lien interest (an equitable interest) against a land title to a legal title to the land and in such an action the result sought by the action requires the trial court to act directly on the title to the real property.

Id. at 861, *quoting Publix Super Markets, Inc. v. Cheesbro Roofing, Inc.*, 502 So.2d 484 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987); *Sierra v. International Medical Centers, Inc.*, 538 So.2d 102, 103 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) (Foreclosure of insurance receiver's property must take place in the county where the subject property is located).⁹

Applying this settled jurisprudence, the First District properly found below that a claim to cancel the very mortgages that are being foreclosed is inextricably intertwined with that foreclosure action, requiring compulsory joinder of the cancellation and foreclosure issues. *Ocean Bank*, 902 So.2d at 835, *citing Londono v. Turkey Creek, Inc.*, 609 So.2d 14, 19 (Fla. 1992) ("transaction or occurrence" requires a "broad realistic interpretation"). Especially when the colliding claims of mortgage foreclosure and mortgage cancellation are examined in juxtaposition, it

⁹See also Hudlett v. Sanderson, 715 So.2d 1050, 1052 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (Under the local action rule, a circuit court lacked jurisdiction of mortgage foreclosure on real property in another county); *Tavernier Towne v. Eagle Nat. Bank of Miami*, 593 So.2d 306, 307 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1992) (Court transferred foreclosure action because circuit court lacked jurisdiction under local action rule.)

becomes unmistakable that the "underlying major question" in this matter is which party will get the Miami-Dade Properties. *Goedmakers*, 520 So.2d at 578.

C. Florida Law Specifically Authorizes Secured Lenders to Proceed Against Assets Claimed by the Receiver In Accordance With the Local Action Rule

While the Receiver presumes that the rights of a secured lender can be downgraded to suit its convenience, Florida law overwhelms that dismissive posturing. This Court has emphasized, in the context of protecting the rights of mortgage lenders, "[s]afeguarding the validity of such contracts, and assuring the right of enforcement thereof, is an obligation of the courts which has constitutional dimensions." *David v. Sun Federal S. & L. Ass'n*, 461 So.2d 93, 94 (Fla. 1984).

Moreover, the insurance statutes of Florida staunchly protect, as they must, the rights of secured creditors with respect to their collateral. Thus, once liquidation is ordered, Ocean Bank's right to foreclose its collateral is explicitly validated by the pivotal components of Florida's Insurers Rehabilitation and Liquidation Act, Sections 631.041(d) (vacating the post-liquidation stay as to secured claims) and 631.191(2)(a) (secured creditors "may resort to the security.") Taken together, these provisions *specifically authorize* an action to enforce a lien in a proceeding outside of the insurer liquidation proceeding. *See e.g. Sierra*, 538 So.2d at 103. As the court established in *Sierra*, "We hold, in response to the question presented, that the automatic stay provision of Section 631.041(1)(d) does not prevent a foreclosure action on a secured claim. The foreclosure action may proceed here in Dade County where the land is located." *Id., cited approvingly* in *Nova Ins. Group, Inc. v. Florida Dept. of Ins.*, 606 So.2d 429, 434 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972).

While the Receiver omits any mention of the secured creditor's statutory entitlement to resort to its collateral, these provisions such as Section 631.191(2)(a) are conceived for the very purpose of permitting foreclosures to proceed properly. *Sierra*, 538 So.2d at 103. Since a foreclosure of land in Miami-Dade County is not maintainable in Tallahassee, *Georgia Casualty, Hudlett*, and *Tavernier Towne Associates*, it necessarily follows that these laws preserve the right of a secured creditor to litigate the foreclosure controversy in the county where the land is situated, because only there can be found subject matter to effectuate the foreclosure remedy. *Sierra*, 538 So.2d at 103 ("... in Dade County where the land is located.").

D. The "Exclusive Jurisdiction" Language Refers to Circumstances Involving Parallel Out-of-State Proceedings

In aggressive efforts to deny such foreclosure rights to lenders like Ocean Bank, the Receiver selectively and misleadingly carves out language from a new subsection found at the end of Section 631.021. Imputing drastic consequences to that out of context sentence, the Receiver stampedes over an array of critical statutory provisions, as well as fundamental maxims of statutory construction, to insist that subject matter jurisdiction only exists in Leon County over action to adjudicate interests in any assets or properties claimed by the Receiver. In offering this remarkable proposition, the Receiver discusses only the second sentence of the recently added subsection six.

> The domiciliary court acquiring jurisdiction over persons subject to this chapter may exercise exclusive jurisdiction to the exclusion of all other courts, except as limited by the provisions of this chapter. Upon the issuance of an order of conservation, rehabilitation, or liquidation, the Circuit Court of Leon County shall have exclusive jurisdiction with respect to assets or property of any insurer subject to such proceedings and claims against said insurer's assets or property.

§631.021(6). Initial Brief at 14 (emphasis supplied by Petitioner).

While insisting that this "exclusive jurisdiction" language sweeps with an unlimited breadth, even in derogation of the long-standing local action rule, the Receiver utterly ignores the first sentence of subsection six. And yet, that critical first sentence explains the reference to "exclusive jurisdiction."

Thus, the starting point for Section 631.021(6) is language explicitly speaking to the "domiciliary court acquiring jurisdiction" This framework is critical because subsection six does not deal with all Florida insurance

receiverships but rather those scenarios that involve a "domiciliary court."¹⁰ The term "domiciliary," in turn, has a well known meaning and is only used to describe situations in which receiverships of courts in two different states have, at least in part, overlapping jurisdiction with respect to a particular subject. See e.g. Florida Ins. Guaranty Ass'n, Inc. v. State ex rel. Dept. of Ins., 400 So.2d 813 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981) (treating Florida assets in conjunction with "domiciliary" receiver appointed in Illinois). Accordingly, the reference to "exclusive jurisdiction," follows and is governed by "domiciliary court," a widely recognized term that speaks to those circumstances in which out-of-state receiverships operate in conjunction with Florida based assets. See generally Hobbs v. Don Mealey Chevrolet, Inc., 642 So.2d 1149, 1157-58 (Fla, 5th DCA 1994) (discussing assorted issues arising from interstate insurance controversies involving Florida issues as well as domiciliary receiver and domiciliary state contentions).

Where a statute first uses "terms each evidently confined and limited to a particular class of a known species of things," and later uses a broader term, the more general word is construed as applying to the "same kind of species with those comprehended by the preceding limited and confined terms."

Id. at 1091.

¹⁰The maxim that threshold language ordinarily circumscribes the words that follow has been firmly embraced by this Court. *City of West Palm Beach v. Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Fund*, 746 So.2d 1085, 1090(Fla. 1999). As this Court explained:

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